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Nicholas Papa y anis

COLLABORATION AND PACIFISM 
IN FRANCE DÜRING WORLD WAR I

French pacifism during World War 1 was a complex and dramatic move­
ment. One of its central leaders was Alphonse Merrheim, secretary of the 
Federation of Metal Workers. To his contemporaries, Merrheim stood out 
as a bold figure, a committed revolutionary; his active pacifism pitted 
him against the sentiments of an embattled and occupied France. Almost 
singlehandedly, he issued a pacifist journal, »LTJnion des Metaux«, orga- 
nized antiwar meetings, participated in the formation of pacifist com- 
mittees, secretly attended an international pacifist Conference, and openly 
criticised the French war aims. He even chided his government for bad 
military planning and praised the Germans for bringing industrial ef- 
ficiency to conquered territories. So unpopulär was Merrheim’s pacifism 
that he walked the Streets with two large dogs for protection, sometimes 
changed his residence, frequently used a pseudonym, and always lived in 
fear of arrest. In fact, he was followed by the police and had his mail 
opened by the government.

Merrheim also battled publically with Leon Jouhaux, his friend and 
the secretary-general of the Confederation Generale du Travail (C.G.T.), 
because the latter, along with other syndicalists, had joined a government 
of national defense against the German invasion. The C.G.T. also sus- 
pended its congresses during the war, declaring, in efFect, a moratorium 
on its attacks against the government. To Merrheim this constituted a 
striking violation of two Cardinal principles of revolutionary syndica- 
lism, that is, political neutrality and antimilitarism. Such action was all 
the more reprehensible for its end: the defense of the middle dass state. 
Merrheim also attacked Jouhaux’s Identification with the Allied war at- 
titudes: that Germany was primarily responsible for the war, that only 
an Allied victory could insure a just peace, and that a workers’ congress 
should meet only after the Allied nations had defeated the Central Po­
wers. Merrheim published articles and brochures against Jouhaux, at­
tacked him at union meetings, in committees, and, in general, hounded 
him to abandon his collaboration. His hostility towards his former friend 
seemed almost irrevocable.

Yet during the war Merrheim, in Order to protect union labor, quietly
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and tacitly assisted in the government’s war efforts. Although Merrheim’s 
contact with the government was no secret - syndicalists knew to whom 
to turn for an official concession — its full meaning and extent was un- 
known, and its implications for his future conduct was grasped neither 
by contemporaries nor by historians. But this aspect of Merrheim’s war 
time activities is in fact central to his political personality because it de- 
monstrates that his concern for the material well-being of his rank-and- 
file and there institutions ranked above his commitment to social revolu- 
tion. Moreover, important limits circumscribed all Merrheim’s actions 
and indicate clearly that he was no revolutionary, that his pacifism posed 
little danger to the French war effort, and that his hostility towards Jou- 
haux, although real, was calculated to restore unity to the C.G.T. A close 
examination of his war time affairs, therefore, will not only illuminate 
hitherto unknown aspects of French pacifism and provide a new frame- 
work for already established facts, it will make more comprehensible why 
Merrheim, a seemingly committed revolutionary, failed even to respond 
to the revolutionary aspirations of his own metal workers during and 
after the war. This is linked to a fundamental fact for the history of mo­
dern France, namely that Merrheim’s failure to provide leadership in the 
insurgent strike movements of his own men helped spare the country se­
vere social and political dislocation in this period.

Merrheim and the Pacifist Movement: The Background

The C.G.T. prepared its members for antiwar activities, especially since 
the turn of the Century when diplomatic tensions and clashes among the 
major powers had become increasingly serious. In 1900, it established the 
Sou du Soldat, an Institution for the propagation of revolutionary syn- 
dicalism among workers in the army.1 The C.G.T.’s Congress of Paris 
(1900) proposed that all Standing armies be abolished.2 Meeting against 
the background of the Russo-Japaese War, the Congress of Bourges (1904) 
hoped that all governments would scrap permanent armaments.8 By 
1906, the C.G.T., meeting at Amiens, affirms that antimilitarist and anti- 
patriotic Propaganda must become ever more intense and ever more au- 
dacious.* * The 1908 Congress of Marseille saw the C.G.T. pass its defi­

1 See: La Conf£d£ration G£n£rale du Travail et le Mouvement Syndical, Paris 
1925, pp.74-75.
1 Ibid.
8 Conf£d£ration G£n&rale du Travail, XlVe Congr^s National Corporatif, Bourges 
1904, p. 231.
* Conf£d£ration G£n£rale du Travail, XVe Congris National Corporatif, Amiens 
1906, p. 175.
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nitive Statement on war, proclaiming that workers will respond to a de- 
claration of war with a declaration of the revolutionary general strike.5 6 
In 1910, the Congress of Toulouse reaffirmed the Marseille resolution.1 
After the German gunboat Panther sailed into Agadir Harbor, French 
and German syndicalists demonstrated together in Berlin for peace in July 
28, 1911; on August 4th antiwar demonstrations took place in Paris with 
German, English, Spanish, Dutch, and French syndicalists participating. 
Such impressive antiwar displays convinced the C.G.T. and even the go- 
vernment that the labor confederation was a significant antimilitarist 
force.8“ On October 1, 1911, an extraordinary Conference of the C.G.T. 
declared it would call a general strike to prevent war and directed its 
member unions to prepare to implement this resolution.7 Virtually up 
to the eve of August, 1914, the C.G.T. proclaimed its resolve to meet any 
war with a general strike.8

Merrheim too was equally antimilitaristic. He was born in 1871 in a 
working dass milieu near Lille. His father trained him as a coppersmith 
and very early in his working career he became involved in the workers’ 
movement in the Nord, first as a guesdist socialist then as a revolution­
ary syndicalist. By 1904 he had become secretary of the Federation of Me- 
tal Workers, a post that brought him to Paris where the union had its 
headquarters. This job would also make him an influential member of the 
C.G.T.’s governing body, the Comite Confederal (Executive Com­
mittee).

Like so many syndicalists Merrheim resented the army because it at- 
tempted to inculcate patriotism in working dass children, forced them to 
defend the liberal capitalist state, and frequently broke up strikes as well. 
In 1900, he suggested a program to keep alive the dass consciousness of 
drafted workers.9 10 Later he demanded that the Minister of War permit 
drafted workers to attend meetings of the Bourse du Travail, since the 
Ministry permitted soldiers to attend gatherings of the Catholic Circles.,0

5 Confederation Generale du Travail, XVIe Congr^s National Corporatif, Mar­
seille 1909, p. 213.
8 Confederation Generale du Travail, XVIIe Congr^s National Corporatif, Tou­
louse 1911, p. 313.
*a For the topic of antimilitarism and workers and their relationship to the European 
governments on the eve of the first World War, see Georges Haupt, Socialism and the 
Great War: The Collapse of the Second International, Oxford 1972.
7 Conference extraordinaire speciale des Bourses du Travail, Unions et Federations, 
tenue le 1er octobre 1911, Maison des Federations, Paris n. d. 1911, p. 23.
8 For a discussion of antimilitarism and the workers in France before World War 1, 
see Jean-Jacques Becker, Le Carnet B, Paris 1973.
9 Roubaix-Tourcoing-Syndicat des chaudronniers sur cuivre, Proc^s-verbaux des re- 
unions des 1er et 8 juillet 1900, des deux sections, in: Le Cuivre, no. 84, August 1901, 
p. 2.
10 (Alphonse) Merrheim, »L’Egalitei«, Le Cuivre, no. 96, August 1902, p. 3.
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In a capitalist society Workers do not have a country, he said, and there- 
fore should not be patriotic.” And it was Merrheim who sponsored the 
antimilitarist resolution of the Congress of Marseille.12 Shortly there- 
after, Merrheim saw more clearly than most syndicalists that war was 
shaping up among the European powers. In 1909 and in 1911, Merrheim 
studied the European arms race and military budgets, and predicted that 
England and Germany would fight each other, dragging the other Euro­
pean nations into a general war.18 * 20 We find ourselves on the eve of a 
gigantic European conflict. Nations are marching with great steps; they 
are preparing themselves (for war) feverishly, he wro 15 * *te.14 For him and 
the workers the choice was simple: Rather insurrection than war! Rat her 
the general strike as a reply to a decree of mobilization.ls

The Pacifist Movement

When war did break out in August, 1914, however, neither Merrheim nor 
the C.G.T. took any action to protest ist. Even more surprising was that 
leaders of the Socialist Party (SFIO), equally antimilitaristic, and the 
C.G.T. joined the government in a union sacree for national defense against 
the German attack. On August 4th, the socialist group in the Chamber 
of Deputies unanimously voted for war credits. On August 26, the socia- 
lists Jules Guesde and Marcel Sembat entered the government. When 
German troops threatened Paris Jouhaux announced on September 3rd 
that he too would join the government, which had recently left Paris for 
Bordeaux. Other important syndicalists - Griffueles, Lefevre, Vignaud, 
Lorient, Bled - also went to Bordeaux.18 Very important in this shift was

11 Alphonse Merrheim in: Le Mouvement Socialiste, no. 166-167, November 1 and
15, 1905, pp.328-331.
** Confederation Glnlrale du Travail, XVIe Congres National Corporatif, p. 213.
1S See Alphonse Merrheim, »Tout pour la Mort. Rien pour la Viel«, La Voix du Peup-
le no. 466, August 29-September 5, 1909, pp. 1-2, and two more articles by Merrheim on
the same theme in: La Voix du Peuple, no. 469, September 19-26, 1909, p. 2, and no. 
472. October 10-17,1909, p. 2; see also Alphonse Merrheim, »L’Approdie de la Guerre«, 
in La Vie Ouvriere, no. 31, January 5, 1911, pt. I, pp. 1-17; no 32, January 20, 1911, 
pt. II, pp. 101-113; no. 33, February 5, 1911, pt. III, pp. 129-141; no. 34, February
20, 1911, pt. IV, pp. 242-248; finally, see Edouard Dolleans, Histoire du mouvement 
ouvrier, Paris 1957, Vol. II, pp. 184-188.
14 Alphonse Merrheim, »L’Approche de la Guerre«, La Vie Ouvriere, no. 31, January
5.1911, pt. I, p. 1.
15 Alphonse Merrheim, >L’Approche de la Guerre«, La Vie Ouvriere, no. 34, February
20.1911, pt. IV, p. 243.
18 The shifts in the C.G.T.’s antimilitarist policy in the weck before the war broke out 
are well-known and are covered in detail in Alfred Rosmer, Le Mouvement Ouvrier 
Pendant La Guerre, Vol. 1, Paris 1936, pp. 92-208. See also Georges Lefranc, Le Mou­
vement Syndical Sous la Troisi^me R^public, Paris 1967, pp. 187-198.
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that these men feared government repression and their possible arrest, 
that many had ceased being real revolutionaries but that also a Jacobin 
tradition impelled them to defend their country against its ancient enemy, 
Germany.17 The rank-and-file seemed to agree.

There was no possibility of a general strike now, but another group of 
syndicalists began to gather at the offices of Pierre Monatte’s syndicalist 
weekly, »La Vie Ouvriere«, to begin a pacifist action. These were people 
for whom the revolutionary syndicalist principles still had meaning. 
Merrheim joined this group which originally consisted of Alfred Rosmer, 
Monatte, Henri Guilbeaux, Marcel Martinet, Amedee Deunois, Daniel 
Renoult, and Martov, the Russian socialists. Later Trotsky too joined. A 
public signal of sorts was sounded the month before when Romain Rol­
land, the novelist, writing from Switzerland, openly attacked the war, an 
octopus that is sucking the best blood of Europe.18 His call encouraged 
the small band of French pacifists.

Well into the first year of the war, however, few in France knew about 
any pacifist efforts. Frenchmen between 20 and 45, including revolution­
ary syndicalists, were being drafted; thousands were being killed or 
wounded daily. Prospects for a quick victory disappeared after the first 
six weeks of fighting, as the soldiers on the Western front settled into the 
trenches for the duration. Merrheim decided to publicize his pacifism, 
thereby risking the ire of the government. He had to ease his conscience, 
however, which no longer permitted him to remain silent. He also hoped 
to enlist a wider audience for pacifism as well as to encourage peace ef­
forts in Germany under Liebknecht. He announced to his federation he 
would prepare for May 1, 1915 a special antiwar issue of »L’Union des 
Metaux«, the federation’s journal.19 He worked secretly with his friend 
Alfred Rosmer to get the edition out.20 Together, they wrote the articles, 
arranged the printing, did the proof-reading, and planned the distribu- 
tion of 15 000 copies of the paper. Merrheim wrote the lead article, »Notre 
Attitüde. Notre Pensee«. In it he attacked the French insistence on an Al- 
lied victory as a prerequisite for peace. He denounced the syndicalists 
who cooperated with the government and insisted his federation would

17 Also useful for the dramatic events immediately proceeding the outbreak of the war 
see, Maurice LABr, La Grande Division Des Travailleurs, 1914-1921, Paris 1964, pp. 
33 ff.
18 Quoted by Robert Wohl, French Communism in the Making, Stanford 1966, p. 59. 
See also Annie Kriegel, Aux Origines du Communisme Fran^ais, Paris 1964, Vo. I, pp. 
82-83.
19 F£d£ration des Metaux, Proc^s-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
17 Avril 1915. (French Institute for Social History, Paris).
20 For this issue see L’Union des Metaux, 24-25 ann£e, no. 61, August 1914-May 
1915.
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remain independent to be able thereby to influence a just peace. He sug- 
gested not a militarist peace with forced annexations, not a peace with 
Imperialist conquest, bu a peace based upon he following principles: 
no annexations; political and economic independence for all nations; 
disarmament; obligatory arbitration (of international disputes). This is 
enough/, he concluded, Tbis war ist not our war.

The government and even former friends criticised Merrheim when the 
journal appeared.21 A rumor spread that the government would now 
arrest him.22 23 Albert Thomas, Under Secretary of State for Munitions 
and Merrheim’s friend, warned him to be prudent since government mi- 
nisters were now talking about him. Merrheim answered that he hoped 
his actions would spark a German pacifist movement.25 * He would con- 
tinue his peace efforts, he said, not waiting for a convenient moment for 
pacifism because too many workers were dying. I am and remain more 
decided than ever for the continuation and intensification of an action in 
favor of peace .. .24 He meant what he said and was currently arranging 
antiwar meetings in Lyon and St. Nazaire.25

However, Merrheim’s pacifism had significant boundaries beyond 
which it would not go and this was first revealed at a secret international 
socialist Conference he attended in Zimmerwald, Switzerland, in Sep­
tember 5-8, 1915. The origin of the Conference lay in the failure of the 
Second International to agitate against the war as its resolutions suggested 
it should. Officially, the Zimmerwals Conference2* met to reestablish in­
ternational relations among socialists, especially those of the belligerent 
nations, and to begin an antiwar action. Lenin, a delegate there, wanted 
more, as he made quite clear to Merrheim before the Conference began. 
No sooner had Merrheim arrived in Switzerland than Russian socialists 
whisked him away from the train Station to meet Lenin at the Maison du 
Peuple in Berne. There, for eight hours, Lenin tried to convince Merr­
heim of two theses: (1) the Conference of Zimmerwald should break 
with the Second International and establish a new, revolutionary Third 
International; and (2) the Zimmerwald Conference should call for an

11 »Pour la F£d£ration du Batiment«, L’Union des Mltaux, no. 62, May-December 
1915, p. 21.
22 Archives Nationales (A.N.), F7,13574, note of May 7,1915, M/9784.
23 F£d£ration des M£taux, Proc^s-verbaux, Sdance de la Commission Executive du 
5 juin (1915).
** ibid., Seance de la Commission Executive de Samedi le 19 juin 1915.
25 See A.N., F7, 13272, telegram of May 1, 1915 (# 19051/49472); A.N., F7, 13272, 
»Rapport« of Lyon, May 3, 1915; A.N., F7, 13574, note of May 10, 1915, M/9789; and
23 I do not intend a systematic study here of the Zimmerwald movement; I am only 
A.N., F7 13272, note # 9866 of July 3,1915 and # 5589 of July 8,1915. 
interested in seeing it as an Illustration of Merrheim’s position. For a fuller treatment 
of Zimmerwald, see Kriegel, op. cit., Vol. I, pp. 97-142.
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immediate general strike of the masses and soldiers against the war.27 At 
the Conference, Leinin sought to guide discussions by submitting a draft 
manifesto and a draft resolution, eadi containing his position.28 29

Merrheim answered privately that he was at Zimmerwald not to Start 
a new International but simply to utter the cry of my tortured conscience 
to the workers of all countries, so that they could direct themselves in a 
common action against the war}* At the Conference, therefore, he sup- 
ported the majority pacifist, non-revolutionary resolutions30 which are 
expressed in the Statement, We have met together in Order to join anew 
the broken des of international relations and to summon the working 
dass to reorganize and begin the struggle for peace. The tactics for the 
pacifist movement would be worked out in the individual countries. In 
his own specific suggestions for peace, Merrheim emphasized that he would 
not have peace at any price nor unilaterally; Germany would have to 
evacuate the invaded territories, although she should be reimbursed by 
England and France; England, too, should abandon the German colonies 
she had captured.31 Merrheim did not believe the moment appropriate 
for any more vigorous action as Lenin had suggested because he estimated 
that the European working dass was not sufficiently prepared for a re- 
volutionary general strike. Lenin believed Merrheim was deluding him- 
self. The former admitted that the French workers were demoralized but 
insisted that socialists should propagandize revolution in a manner ap­
propriate to the circumstances, something Merrheim did not consider 
currently.32

Merrheim maintained a Zimmerwaldian stance throughout the war; no 
change in objective circumstances would cause him to modefy his limited 
pacifism. Back in France he was a member of the »Comit£ pour la Reprise 
des Relations Internationales« (CPRRI), formed to work for and co-

27 See Alphonse Merrheim in Confederation Generale du Traivail, XX Congres national 
corporatif, September 15-21, 1919, Villeneuve-Sainte-Georges 1919, p. 171; also see 
Merrheim’s preface to Max Hoschiller’s book Le Mirage Du Sovietisme (Paris, 1921), 
pp. 7-10; and Merle Fainsod, International Socialism and the World War, Cambridge 
(Mass.) 1935, note # 16, p. 66, and Edouard DoliLans, op. cit., Vol. II, p. 235.
28 A complete copy is in Olga M. Gankin and H. H. Fisher, The Bolsheviks and the 
World War: The Origin of the Third International, Stanford 1940, pp. 349-351. See 
also V. I. Lenin, »The Imperialist War«, in Collected Works (New York, 1942), Vol. 
XVIII, pp. 346-349.
29 Alphonse Merrheim in: Confederation Generale du Travail, XX Congres national 
corporatif, op. cit., p. 171.
30 See Gankin and Fisher, op. cit., pp. 329-333.
31 See Archives de la Prefecture de Police (A.P.P.), B/A 1535, report of November 
10,1915 (dossier 13).
32 V. I. Lenin, »Les Marxistes revolutionnaires ä la Conference socialiste internatio­
nale (5-8 septembrc 1915),« in Contre le Courant, October 11,1915, Vol. II, pp. 17-20.
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Ordinate national and international pacifist movements.33 There some 
pressed for bold action. Trotsky, a member of the CPRRI while in Fran­
ce, stated that any antiwar action must not take into consideration or be 
limited by thoughts of national defense or of the existing political Order.34 
Pericat, a member of the Building Trades Federation, stated bluntly: 
Personally, it matters little to me if the Germans are in Marseille or in 
Paris. I don’t have a country, and it’s all the same to me if I live ander 
the Prussian holt or the French holt. 1 shall not give a piece of my skin to 
save France .. .35 On the other side, Bourderon, Merrheim’s socialist col- 
league at Zimmerwald, spoke for the majority of the CPRRI when he re- 
jected a split with existing workers’ parties or the formation of a new 
International, as some like Leinin were suggesting.36 At a meeting of the 
Comite de defense syndicaliste (CDS), originally the syndicalist section 
of the CPRRI and later autonomous, Merrheim also stated that he would 
not consider a split with the C.G.T.37 And he supported the socialist fac- 
tion on the CPRRI in its belief that the Second International should be 
oriented in a »Zimmerwaldian sense.«38 * Also, when the Russian Revolu­
tion broke out, Merrheim hailed it publically. Privately, however, he 
regretted that the French pacifists had lost a major argument against 
French participation in the war, namely that their government was al- 
lied with a reactionary power, Tsarist Russia. This revolution has come 
two years too late and it signifies another two years of war, he wrote.30 
Merrheim shocked even his own supporters when he announced that he 
was opposed to a separate peace between Germany und Russia.40 That,

33 To carry on this work French pacifists originally established on November 21, 1915 
at C.G.T. headquarters the Comite d’Action Internationale with ties in Berne, Switzer- 
land to pacifist committees from other nations. On February 7, 1916, this committee
dianged its name to the Comite de la reprise__, whidi in turn divided into a socialist
and syndicalist section, headed by Bourderon and Merrheim respectively. For the found- 
ing meeting of the Comit6 d’Action Internationale see especially A.N., F7, 13371, re- 
port of October 6, 1916 (dossier fl 3); A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, December 20, 
1915 (dossier »C.G.T. - 1915 - notes«); A.N., F7, 13574, report of December 30, 1915, 
M/10127 (dossier »C.G.T. - 1915 - notes«); A.P.P., B/A 1559, report of Paris, Novem­
ber 22,1915 (compte rendu), dossier ff 3); see also Kriegel, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 123.
34 A.N., F7, 13371, report of October 6, 1916 (dossier ff 3), and A.P.P., B/A 1558,
report of Paris, October 11, 1916 (dossier ff 3). The first source summarizes both Trot- 
sky’s opening Statement and the meeting; the second contains a direct quote Trotsky 
made at this meeting.
36 A.N., F7, 13371, report of October 6, 1916; see also A.P.P., B/A 1558, report of 
August 16,1916.
30 A.N., F7, 13371, report of October 6,1916.
37 A.N., F7, 13575, report of Paris, November 21,1916, M/10.826.
38 A.P.P., B/A 1558, report of Paris, April 4,1916 (dossier # 3).
3» A.N., F7,13575, report of Paris, Mardi 24,1917.
49 A.N., F7, report of Paris, April 4, 1917, M/11.196, and A.N., F7, 13575, report of 
Paris, April 13,1917.
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he believed, would hurt France because Germany could turn most of her 
tropps against her neighbour in the west and that Merrheim did not want 
to see. At a meeting of the C.G.T.’s Executive Committee Jouhaux took 
exactly the same position. Another syndicalist, Loriot, however, disa- 
greed and pointed out the simple fact that a separate peace would stop the 
killing at least in Russia and force other belligerents to come to terms 
with Germany and Russia. He also thought that support of a separate 
peace by the French would indicate their favor for the most revolutio- 
nary elements in Russia, who were also calling for immediate peace.41 
But here ist precisely another reason why Merrheim did not want a sepa­
rate peace, since he opposed the revolutionaries to the left of the Menshe- 
viks.42 43

The Russian Revolution spurred P^ricat to suggest that May Day 1917 
be the occasion for a general work stoppage. He specifically directed his 
idea to Merrheim, who refused to answer.48 Pericat also wanted the 
workers to oppose by force the departure for the front of the next dass 
of soldiers.44 * Merrheim and the Executive Committee of his Federation 
refused to call a work stoppage even for one day and were content to is- 
sue a mild manifesto calling for solidarity with the revolutionary people 
of Russia and Germany.** The Executive Committee of the C.G.T. took 
the same position. One perceptive police report noted that Among the 
industrial federations (in France) only one is capable of passing beyond 
the principal decisions of the C.G.T. and giving any demonstrations a 
revolutionary allure: the Federation of Metal Workers. But, the report 
concluded, Merrheim refused to council demonstrations.46 *

It is difficult to understand the limits of Merrheim’s pacifism and be- 
havior without knowing that at the same time that he was directing his 
pacifist campaign he was also exerting the greatest pressure on Jouhaux 
to have the latter cease his government collaboration. Throughout the 
war too Merrheim had sought to restore unity to the C.G.T. He had gone 
through great efforts to heal the break between the majority (Jouhaux’s 
faction) and the minority (the pacifists) and he was not about to exacer- 
bate that split or threaten his efforts for unity by agitating for a more

41 A.N., F7,13575, report of Paris, April 4,1917, M/11.196.
42 A police report confirms that concerning the issue of a separate peace between Ger­
many and Russia Merrheim was in the center, whereas Loriot, Broutchoux, and Pericat 
were on the left. See A.N., F7,13575, report of Paris, April 13,1917.
43 A.P.P., B/A 1558, report of Paris, April 13,1917.
44 A.N., F7,13569, report of Paris, May 1,1917.
48 A.N., F7, 13272, report of April 30, 1917 and A.N., F7, 12911, a circular of the
Federation of Metal Workers entitled »Pour le Premier Mai-Aux Organisations! Aux
Militants.«
40 A.N., F7,13272, report of April 26,1917.
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radical pacifism or by preparing some antigovernment or revolutionary 
action. The latter might not succeed, he believed, and would certainly 
risk the destruction of revolutionary syndicalism.

Merrheim and Jouhaux

Merrheim’s major target among the syndicalist collaborators was Jou­
haux. He resented that the latter had joined the government, thereby 
breaking a central principle of revolutionary syndicalism and deserting 
the Parisian working dass in the process. To make up for Jouhaux’s de- 
parture, Merrheim became temporarily interim secretary-general of the 
C.G.T.; thus he feit he could help the Parisian workers and insure the 
continuation of the traditional revolutionary syndicalist movement.47 
Merrheim also demanded that Jouhaux state for the record that his de- 
parture did not officially implicate the whole C.G.T. in his collaboration. 
He forced Jouhaux to call a meeting of the C.G.T.’s Executive Commit­
tee and announce to it that he was going to Bordeaux, where the govern­
ment had moved, in a personal capacity only. In principle, therefore, the 
C.G.T. was still autonomous and by remaining in Paris, Merrheim belie­
ved he symbolized the C.G.T.’s rejection of Jouhaux’s action.48 49

Merrheim’s determination to remain within the C.G.T. and to pressure 
Jouhaux to quite the Union sacree frequently placed Merrheim in diffi- 
cult or compromising situations. In October, 1914, for example, Scandi- 
navian socialists invited the C.G.T. to Copenhagen for a proposed inter­
national Conference of socialists from neutral and belligerent nations to 
discuss the war and to prepare for peace. Merrheim did not think the 
C.G.T. should participate officially because the Germans occupied neu­
tral Belgium. But it is equally our (the Metal Workers) opinion that the 
C.G.T. does not have the right to let this letter (the Scandinavians invi- 
tation) pass without an answer. And the only answer possible is to en- 
courage the neutral nations in their action in favor of peace.4* The 
C.G.T.’s Executive Committee voted not to answer the Scandinavians’ 
appeal. Pierre Monatte, Merrheim’s very good friend, was so outraged

47 A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, October 6, 1914, M. 35; A.P.P., B/A 1605, report 
of June, 1915, »Note sur l’attitude de Merrheim.«
48 This information is contained in a letter Merrheim wrote to his friend and co-syn- 
dicalist, Pierre Monatte, explaining the events of September, 1914. The letter is in Jean 
Maitron and Colette Chambelland, eds., Syndicalisme rövolutionnaire et communisme: 
les ardiives de Pierre Monatte, Paris 1968, pp. 35-38.
49 Föderation des Mötaux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
2 decembre 1914.
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by this seeming indifference to a long history of antimilitarism that he re- 
signed from the Executive Committee.50 51 52 Merrheim put aside his pride 
and complained only mildly agianst the Committee’s decision.61

On another occasion, however, Jouhaux attended, in July, 1916, an 
interallied syndicalist Conference in Leeds, England, and, in Paris, even 
appeared before a banquet of the »Federation des Indu- 
striels et des Commer^ants fran$ais«. Some syndica- 
lists called him a scab for the latter action and demanded that he resign 
as secretary-general of the C.G.T.53 54 55 Merrheim’s complaint was limited 
to an expressing of regret that Jouhaux had again acted without Consul­
ting the C.G.T.

At times Merrheim found his own actions difficult and trying. On Fe- 
bruary 14, 1915, interallied socialists held a Conference in London to as- 
ses their role in the war. On February 7, 1915, the C.G.T.’s Executive 
Committee debated whether to send representatives.53 Merrheim argued 
against participation because he believed the Conference would appear 
as an endorsement of Allied war aims.*4 Privatley he also said that Tbö­
se who have refused to go to Copenhagen are not qualified to accept the 
invitation to go to London.™ The Executive Committee decided to at- 
tend, however, and picked a delegation of four representatives, Luquet, 
Moulinier, Jouhaux, and Merrheim. The latter seems a stränge choice gi- 
ven his known Opposition to the Conference. The Executive Committee, 
on the other hand, obviously knew that Merrheim wanted to remain 
within the C.G.T.; and it was better to have him defend a minority Po­
sition inside the C.G.T. than to have him agitate outside the confedera- 
tion. For his part, Merrheim reluctantly agreed to go in Order to defend,

50 This episodc is covered rather well in Maitron and Chambelland, op. cit., pp. 45- 
85; see also Rosmer, op. cit., Vol. I, pp. 172-180, and Dolleans, op. cit., Vol. II, pp. 
226-227.
51 See the letter from the Federation of Metal Workers to the C.G.T.’s Executive Com­
mittee, dated December 16, 1914; found in A.N., F7, 13574. See also A.N., F7, 13574, 
report of March 1,1915, M/9674, where some of this information is summarized.
52 A.N., F7, 13575, report of Paris, March 13, 1916 and report of Paris, March 13, 
1916, M/10264; also Föderation des Mötaux, Procös-verbaux, Söance de la Com­
mission Executive du 1er avril 1916.
53 A.N., F7,13574, report of Paris, February 8,1915, M/9635.
54 His resolution to this meeting is reprinted in Maitron and Chambelland, op. cit., 
pp. 87-88. Other reports on this meeting are in A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, Fe­
bruary 8, 1915, M/9635; A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, February 23, 1915, M/9665. 
See also Föderation des Mötaux, Proces-verbaux, Söance de la Commission Exe­
cutive du 10 Fövrier 1915, where Merrheim reported on the meeting of February 7th 
to his federation and A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, March 1, 1915, M/9674, which 
reports on a meeting of the C.G.T.'s Executive Committee where a debate took place on 
why Merrheim accepted the invitation to go to London.
55 A.N., F7,13574, report of Paris, February 8,1915, M/9635.
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as he told his Federation, his pacifist views.56 57 He also hoped that the 
London Conference would be a first Step towards a truly international 
Conference where all nations would be invited and represented.” Merr- 
heim’s sincerity did not eliminate his contradictions, which themselves 
are explained by his desire to remain within the C.G.T. and to lead a 
pacifist movement based upon the Status quo ante.

Constant pressure by Merrheim against Jouhaux began to show minor 
but hopeful gains. Signs of a political rapprochement between the two 
men were evident long before they were publically reconciled in 1917. 
Merrheim’s methods included insistence upon respect for traditional 
form, the need for consultations in the Executive Committee for exam- 
ple, as well as publicizing the peace program within the limits of the 
censor’s restrictions; moreover, this did not preclude dramatic face to face 
confrontations with Jouhaux. At an important meeting of the C.G.T.’s 
Executive Committee on June 26, 1915, Merrheim read a blistering at- 
tack against Jouhaux’s collaboration. The speech left Jouhaux very defen­
sive and »very pale.«58 In May, 1915, Merrheim and his supporters on 
the Executive Committee forced Jouhaux to hold a Conference of the 
C.G.T. On May 30, 1915, Jouhaux’s critics forced his hand by complai- 
ning that the Confederation had not met since the war began.59 At the 
meeting Jouhaux had to answer, he had to define a position. This he did 
and he argued that peace should be based upon the following principles: 
(1) the supression of secret treaties; (2) the respect for the sovereignty of 
all nations; (3) disarmament; and (4) compulsory arbitration of interna­
tional disputes. He believed also that the C.G.T. should meet only at the 
end of the war, at the same time as a diplomatic peace Conference; he 
wanted no meeting of the Organization while France was under the Ger­
man attack. Already, however, this program was a concession to Merr­
heim since at the beginning of the war Jouhaux refused even to define 
any peace terms. Bourderon, of the Barrel Makers Union and Merrheim’s 
friend, disagreed with Jouhaux’s premise of no general meeting until af- 
ter the war: French syndicalists, he argued, should gather to instruct the 
secretary-general of their sentiment and wishes on the war. On the sur- 
face it was a most logical request and one that Jouhaux could not easily

56 Federation des M4taux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
10 fevrier 1915.
57 Quoted by Kriegel, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 104.
58 See A.N., F7, 13574, report of June 28, 1915, M/9858. At this meeting Jouhaux told 
the Committee that if it believed his collaboration was inappropriate then it should 
mandate him to cease it. The Committee, however, gave the secretary-general a vote 
of confidence.
69 This meeting is covered in A.N., F7, 13574, report of May 31, 1915, M/9812. See 
also a small note about the meeting in A.N., F7, 13574, report of June 2,1915, M/9813.
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refuse, although he suspected that Bourderon wanted the C.G.T. to take 
the initiative for peace. Bourderon’s proposal, however, carried and the 
Executive Committee decided to hold a Conference on August 15, 1915. 
A police spy wrote that Merxheim had triumphed.*° For the first time 
since the war had begun, the majority in the C.G.T. could no longer put 
the minority off; Jouhaux now had to explain officially his actions since 
August, 1914.

At the Conference Merrheim was anxious to air the pacifist stance.01 
Under no illusions that the majority would suddenly become concilia- 
tory, he hoped that the Conference would be a point of departure for a 
more general action ... (against the war).02 Both he and Jouhaux stated 
their peace objectives, summing up too thereby the major differences bet- 
ween them. In the process it was also evident that Jouhaux had made a 
slight concession to Merrheim. The latter condemned the collaboration 
and wanted the C.G.T. to participate immediately in the pacifist pro­
gram. He did not want, however, that France ask for peace unilaterally 
nor establish peace as long as Germany occupied invaded territories.03 
Jouhaux, on the other hand, insisted that we shall first examine the faults 
committed by our enemies, who have done nothing to prevent the war. I 
do not say >war until the end< anymore than I say ämmediate peace<. He 
concluded: we will make peace when the proper moment comes, by 
which he meant after an Allied victory.04 The Conference passed Jou- 
haux’s resolution, in which he reiterated the peace proposals he made on 
May 30, 1915, and which assumed the necessity of an Allied victory be- 
fore a settlement of the war.05 Nevertheless, privately Merrheim cele- 
brated a victory. Out of the public eye Merrheim had forced Jouhaux to 
write in his resolution that the Conference, disapproving all policies of 
conquest, appeals to the international Proletariat for peace .. .** Once 
again, Jouhaux, who had refused to dehne any terms for peace, did so 
and now quite publically. It was Merrheim who had forced him to talk

60 A.N., F7,13574, report of June 2,1915, M/9813.
61 See his letter of July 30, 1915, to Monatte, in Maitron and Chambelland, op. cit., 
pp. 140-143.
89 Föderation des Metaux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
14 aoüt 1915.
69 Conference conföderale du 15 aoüt 1915, in: L’Union des Metaux, no. 62, May- 
December 1915, pp. 16-17. For a brief account see A.N., F7, 13574, report of August 
16,1915, M/9913.
84 Jouhaux’s position is spelled out in A.P.P., B/A 1605, report of July 15, 1915, »note 
sur l’attitude de la C.G.T. et des organisations syndicales du döpartement de la Seine 
depuis le 1er avril 1915,« 30 pp.
85 Conförence confederale du 15 aoüt 1915, in: L’Union des Metaux, no. 62, May- 
December 1915, p. 17.
80 A.N., F7,13574, report of September 6,1915, M/9938.
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about seif determination, complusory arbitration, secret diplomacy, and 
the arms race.*7 A police reporter stated bluntly: Jouhaux is not very 
hostile to Merrheim’s pacifist intrigues.®8 Immediately after the Confe­
rence, Merrheim and his friends gathered to celebrate their victory and de- 
cided to continue their pacifist campaign because events so far, especially 
the Conference, had encouraged them.*9

Developments in 1916 caused Merrheim and Jouhaux to move even 
closer, although there was still a great deal of friction between them and 
publically they still appeared as enemies. Strikes, which had been few in 
1914 and 1915 compared to previous years, began to increase signifi- 
cantly in 1916.* 70 Unions, especially those in the war industries, began to 
complain about the rising cost of living. Since many of these were metal 
workers unions, Merrheim was especially interested in their plight. Na- 
tionally and international^, sentiment grew for a more revolutionary 
peace program than the one Merrheim had suggested. Anarchists from 
the journal »Temps Nouveaux« formed a dissident group with- 
in the French pacifist movement in order to plan very vigorous antiwar 
actions. An international socialist Conference met in Kienthal in April, 
1916, and condemned those pacifists who believed that compulsory arbi­
tration and disarmament could insure peace. It proclaimed that only re­
volutionary mass action could guarantee peace.71 And at the end of 1916, 
President Woodrow Wilson of the United States asked all belligerents to 
define their peace terms.

In December, 1916, the C.G.T. met to reassess its wartime role and to 
discuss Wilson’s note. The pacifist minority gathered beforehand to de- 
cide on a common strategy for the Conference.72 At this meeting Merr­
heim complained that some minority syndicalists wanted a permanent 
split from the majority. The »Comite pour la defense du syndicalisme« 
planned a Conference of minority delegates to meet on the eve of the 
C.G.T.’s gathering. Merrheim hoped that the C.G.T. would not play into 
this groups hands and consummate the split. At another pre-conference 
meeting,73 he advised his friends not to attack and criticize Jouhaux at 
this moment because provincial delegates might not understand the point 
of the fight. P^ricat and others, however, feit timing made no difference 
since their position was correct. What they did not understand was that

87 Ibid.
88 A.N., F7, 13574, report of August 25,1915, M/9919.
8» Ibid.
70 See Robert Brecy, Le Mouvement syndical en France, Paris 1963, p. 92.
71 Merle Fainsod, op. cit., p. 129.
72 A.N., F7,13569, report of Paris, November 28,1916.
75 A.P.P., B/A 1558, report of December 22,1916.
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Merrheim’s goal was unity with Jouhaux and that he would never break 
with the pre-war C.G.T.

When the December Conference of the C.G.T. met74 delegates deba- 
ted, among other issues, the attitude of the C.G.T.’s Executive Commit­
tee since August, 1914, and war aims. Merrheim wanted Jouhaux to res- 
pond to Wilson’s note. By this time Jouhaux had no objection to defining 
peace terms, as long as he did not have to abandon the Allied cause. The 
Conference, therefore, agreed unanimously that all governments should 
define their peace objectives. The French government, the resolution con- 
tinued, should respond »favorably« to Wilson’s note.1*

The official reconciliation between Merrheim and Jouhaux came in 
December, 1917, and was directly related to the advent to power of Cle- 
menceau. The latter became premier in November, 1917 for the purpose 
of reviving the flagging French war effort. In mid-April, 1917, a French 
military offensive led by Nivelle against the Germans had failed disaster- 
ously. It coincided with mutenies in the army in May and was followed 
by the most important labor strikes to date. In 1917, 696 strikes had bro- 
ken out involving a total of 298,810 strikers. The most serious were those 
of the clothing makers in May and June and of the war industry workers 
during the summer and early fall of 1917. By May, 1917, may syndica- 
lists were calling for renewed antigovernment action to celebrate May 
Day and also to demonstrate their Support for the Russian revolution.

When Clemenceau became premier, the C.G.T. had cause for concern. 
Government’s before Clemenceau’s tended to be accomodating to the 
workers in public, although they were frequently repressive in private. It 
was the reverse with Clemenceau: »secret corruption and public repres- 
sion.«78 79 For Clemenceau repression was part of his psychological warfa- 
re against the worke* rs.77 In public Clemenceau wanted to appear ex- 
tremely tough and this precluded official Cooperation with the C.G.T. 
For their part, the workers remembered Clemenceau as the Minister of 
the Interior who called out the troops against them in the bloody strike 
of Villeneuve Saint-Georges in 1908. Under these circumstances Jouhaux 
had no choice but to abruptly end his collaboration. Therefore Merrheim 
and Jouhaux’s factions met at the C.G.T.’s Conference of Clermont-Fer- 
rand and agreed to work for peace on the basis of an essentially Zimmer­

74 Conference des Federations corporatives, des Unions de Syndicats, des Bourses
du Travail, in: La Bataille, from no. 418 (December 24) to no. 420 (December 26, 1916).
78 The text of this resolution is in A.N., F7, 13372, »Au sein de la classe ouvriere,« p. 
29 and in: La Confederation Generale du Travail et le mouvement syndical, op. cit., 
p. 152.
79 Kriegel, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 194.
77 Jean Max, De Zimmerwald au Bolchevisme, Paris 1920, note #2, p. 121.
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wald platform.78 A minority at the Conference proposed a resolution79 
expressly condemning the union sacree policy of 1914 and made a point 
of affirming its profound sympathy (and) its respect for all the Russian 
revolutionäries ... The majority resolution, the one Merrheim and Jou- 
haux supported, did not mention the previous collaboration, praised the 
peace proposals of the Russian Revolution and of President Wilson, 
which it defined in Wilsonian terms, and called upon all governments to 
define a peace program. Merrheim had moved somewhat closer to Jou- 
haux and Jouhaux closer to Merrheim.

Merrheim and Collaboration

An important link between Merrheim’s limited pacifist campaign and his 
desire to rejoin forces with Jouhaux was his overriding concern for the 
material well-being of his workers. For that reason and in Order to keep 
the C.G.T. intact during the war, and to insure that the movement he 
had worked so hard to build was not destroyed, Merrheim feit impelled 
to maintain his own unofficial but quite close ties with the government 
and with Jouhaux, even while he was publically attacking both. These 
concerns involved him in activities which help explain the limitations of 
his war-time behavior. It is Merrheim’s private letters, so far unpubli- 
shed, which permit the historian for the first time to put together the 
complete story of Merrheim’s career during the war.80

Merrheim was a trade unionist as well as a radical. In the former capa- 
city he labored to protect and to improve the job Status, wages, and work­
ing conditions of his rank-and file. War, on the other hand, would have 
an adverse effect on unionism in the metallurgical industry: the govern­
ment would insist that workers make special sacrifices to increase the pro- 
duction of war materiels. Also, the authorities would hardly tolerate 
any revolutionary Propaganda or dangerous pacifist activity in such an 
industry. Moreover, the government drafted many metal workers and

78 Compte rendu de la Conference extraordinaire des Federations nationales, Bourse 
du Travail et Unions des Syndicats, tenue ä Clermont-Ferand. Ies 23, 24, 25 d£cembre 
1917 (edite par la C.G.T.) in Vol. 8, 157 pp. (Paris, w.d. 1919). See p. 155 for the re­
solution passed by the Conference.
79 Ibid., p. 154.
80 What we well henceforth refer to as the Merrheim Archives are letters written to 
and by Merrheim, and which cover mostly the years 1914 and 1915, although there are 
several letters from earlier years. A microfilm ot the entire Collection is in the Institut 
Maruce Thorez, Paris, hereafter cited as IMT. The Institut Fran^ais d'Histoire Sociale 
has only a partial collection of these letters on microfilm. I would like to take this op- 
portunity to thank M. David Diamont, director of the IMT for giving me access to the 
Merrheim Archives.
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filled their places with non-union labor, women, children, and even for- 
eign workers. Industrialists asked this non-union labor force to work 
long hours at low wages, a demand they also made on union labor. Merr- 
heim did all he could to minimize the extent and effect of such measures. 
This ist why throughout the war he was on intimate terms with some of 
his public enemies. For example, along with Jouhaux, he belonged to the 
Comite d’Action which gave the Ministry of Labor considerable useful 
Information on labor conditions and labor sentiment in the metallurgical 
industry. Merrheim also cooperated with the Senate investigations of la­
bor conditions as well as with Mixed Commissions of representatives 
from labor, government, and industry. He also frequently appealed to 
Jouhaux or to Albert Thomas, the socialist under-Secretary of State for 
War, to intercede for workers having any important business with the 
government. And he maintained especially close relations with Thomas, 
thereby establishing a pipeline into the Ministry of War. Even Clemen- 
ceau tried to enlist Merrheim’s assistance when the former became premier 
in November, 1917. By discouraging labor agitation and by providing 
the government with data on the metallurgical industry, Merrheim ob- 
tained favors for his workers. He also, of course, was assisting in the go- 
vernment’s production of war materiels. Because his motives were sympa- 
thetic to workers, because his collaboration was unofficial and his paci­
fism sincere, he believed that his war-time activities differed qualitati- 
vely from Jouhaux’s. However, Jouhaux was simply more open about 
his assistance to the government and in this matter the line between Merr­
heim and Jouhaux was rather fine.

Merrheim’s unpublicized Cooperation with the government makes 
abundantly clear why he never broke definitively with Jouhaux, demon- 
strates the limits of his revolutionary syndicalism, and portends his choice 
of a reformist program in the troubled and potentially revolutionary ti- 
mes during and immediately after the war.

At the beginning of August, 1914, the press announced the formation 
of a Comite des Secours National whose function it was to come to the 
assistance, in Paris and the provinces, of women, children, and old people 
in need, without distinction for their opinions or religious beliefs.81 On 
this committee sat Maurice Barres, Lepine, a former police chief, Charles 
Maurras, industrialists and bankers as well as Jouhaux and Bled, secretary 
of the Union des Syndicats de la Seine.82 83 Merrheim and Lenoir, a co-se- 
cretary of the Federation of Metal Workers, publically attacked Jouhaux 
for working with the enemies of the working dass.8* In private, how-

81 Quoted by Bernard Georges and Denise Tintant, L£on Jouhaux, Paris 1962, p. 143.
82 Ibid., pp. 143-144.
83 Ibid., p. 144.
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ever, Merrheim’s protest were not as serious. One police reporter wrote 
that Merrheim raised some objections in principle against the Comite 
de Secours but without declaring himself pointblank against the partici- 
pation (of Jouhaux).84 85 * When syndicalists discussed collaboration on the 
Comite de Secours in the C.G.T.’s Executive Committee, Merrheim spoke 
for his Federation in the following moderate terms: We (the C.G.T.) 
must limit our collaboration in the light of our principles. Our collabo­
ration on the Comite de Secours National is a Step in a bad direction.ss 
A reporter perceptively noted that he (Merrheim) understood that in col- 
laborating too closely with the government, the C.G.T. would lose the 
right to appeal ... for peace at a time that it shall choose itself.M The 
implication was that Merrheim’s objection to C.G.T. involvement on 
this committee was purely tactical. Also, at this moment Merrheim had 
become interim-secretary of the C.G.T., which meant that he would have 
to have some kind of working relationship with Jouhaux. And in Decem- 
ber, 1914, the Comite d’Action, a socialist-syndicalist committee to 
which Merrheim belonged, issued the following rather enthusiastic State­
ment about the Comite de Secours: The Comite d’Action can only render 
homage to the work which the Comite de Secours has followed since the 
beginning of the war. Made up of elements coming from all social classes 
and all parties, this committee has fulfilled its task quite impartially 
and very conscientiously. It has assisted with material misery and work- 
stoppage engendered by the war and thereby has »also assisted in the na­
tional defense.«87 It is unfair to saddle Merrheim with this favorable 
proclamation, but surely he must have appreciated the material relief the 
comit£ des Secours was providing workers.

It was the same with the Mixed Commissions. Merrheim disliked the 
manner in which they were formed and also their composition, but he 
never completely rejected them. In March, 1915, the Prefect of the Seine 
named members of Mixed Commissions composed of representatives 
from government, business, and labor. They were supposed to solve any 
labor difficulties that threatened industrial production. Merrheim com- 
plained that the government had not consulted the C.G.T. about their 
formation or their membership. He regretted too that Jouhaux had ac- 
cepted a position on the Mixed Commission without C.G.T. approval. 
One syndicalist told Merrheim that he opposed C.G.T. participation in 
the Mixed Commissions because he did not want to associate with our ad-

84 A.P.P., B/A 1605, report of September 10, 1915, »Notes retrospectives sur les divi- 
sions intdrieures du Comite Confed^ral.«
85 A.P.P., B/A 1605, report of June, 1915, »Note sur l’attitude de Merrheim.«
88 Ibid.
87 Bataille Syndicaliste, no. 1.330, December 17,1914, p. 2.
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versauest But another syndicalist noted that the actions of the Federa­
tion of Metal Workers since the beginning of the war implied the accep- 
tance of such commissions and We cannot therefore come out today 
against these mixed commissions.8B He meant that the metal workers 
were already cooperating unofficially with the government. The problem 
for Merrheim was the clear nature of the dass collaboration implied in 
membership in such a body. Yet he did not wish to dismiss an institution 
that could help the workers. He proposed, therefore, a compromise. The 
Federation of Metal Workers, Merrheim said, would officially state that 
it was not a partisan of the Mixed Commissions and that it regretted their 
formation, but at the same time it would invite its unions to give the 
commissions their assistance if they wished, because the Mixed Commis­
sions might be of some value.90

As a revolutionary syndicalist, Merrheim believed workers should not 
cooperate with the government or petition it for relief because this vio- 
lated the concept of workers’ direct action. Yet without making a fuss 
about it, Merrheim testified in July, 1915, before a Senatorial Commis­
sion inquiring about labor conditions among indsutrial workers. There 
he talked mostly about salaries. At one point he told the Senators that 
we would only accept a tampering with our salaries if the government 
commandeers the factories. This was a plea for egalitarian treatment. In 
any case, after the Session he could report to his Federation that he 
thought wages would remain the same.91 And this was one point of his 
appearnace before the Senators, namely to protect wages. On another oc- 
casion during the war Merrheim testified before a coalition of left-wing 
deputies at the Palais-Bourbon.92 Because strikes had broken out in the 
spring of 1918 among younger metal workers, the C.G.T.’s Executive 
Committee sent Jouhaux and Merrheim to the deputies to explain the cau- 
ses of the labor unrest and to define the C.G.T.’s attitude towards it. Jou­
haux explained that the worker’s ignorance of general conditions in Fran­
ce had caused the strikes. Workers, he added, wanted the government to 
take them into its confidence; it should define its peace terms and it should 
recognize the right of the working dass to have a voice in public affairs. 
Merrheim, too, did not blame the workers for the strikes. The govern-

88 F£d£ration des Metaux, Proc^s-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
samedi 3 avril 1915.
89 Ibid.
80 Ibid.
81 F^d^ration des Mitaux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
24 juillet 1915.
82 His testimony can be found in the journal »Syndicats«, no. 135, May 10, 1939, p. 2. 
An even fuller account because unlike the former it also includes Jouhaux’s testimony 
to the same group is in: La Lefon des faits (Paris, 1918), pp. 4-19.
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ment and the employers, which kept the workers ignorant of their inten- 
tions, were responsible. It is necessary that one speak clearly to the wor­
kers, explain to them the goals that are being followed in this war, and 
give to them the Impression that something its being done to promote 
peace. This testimony, not so terrible in itself, was a radical departure 
from the traditional revolutionary syndicalist practice of not coopera- 
ting with the government. Merrheim even found himself being criticised 
by a member of his own Federation for taking part in a parliamentary 
meeting. Another metal worker demanded that such future participation 
cease. Merrheim answered his critics: contact with the deputies, he said, 
was a logical consequence of remaining within the C.G.T. Executive Com­
mittee, and that was desirable since it kept the C.G.T. on a more proper 
course than if the minority was not there. In any case, he continued, ap- 
pearing before the parliamentary group was not a political act.93 * * It is 
difficult to understand what Merrheim meant by the latter explanation sin­
ce pre-war revolutionary syndicalists, Merrheim included, were clear 
that precisely this sort of contact with government deputies was undesi- 
rable.

Merrheim had much more direct contact with the government, how- 
ever, through his work on the Comite d’Action. On September 9, 1915, 
shortly after Jouhaux had left Paris for Bordeaux, the Executive Com­
mittee of the C.G.T. decided to get together with the Socialist Party in 
order to form a Commission d}Action.9* As interim secretary of the 
C.G.T. I (Merrheim) was delegated to ask the Socialist Party for the Crea­
tion of the Comite d’Action.. .*s The Committee came into existence on 
the tenth. Its ostensible function was to assist the public authorities with 
any matters of interest to the working dass.96 The Comite d'Action also 
provided the government with information on supplies, work stoppages, 
work assignments, and other similar matters.97 In short, it worked rather 
closely with the government for the production of war materiels and for 
the prosecution of the war itself. To facilitate its job, the Comite divided 
into eight subcommissions, the most important of which was the Commis­
sion du Travail chaired by Merrheim.98 In April, 1916, the subcommis­

n F£d£ration des M£taux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
mardi, 11 juin 1918.
84 A.N., F7, 13574, joint report of Bordeaux, October 9, 1914 and of Paris, October 
6,1914, M/35.
85 »A L’Union des Mecaniciens de la Seine«, in: L'Union des M^taux no. 62, May- 
December 1915, p. 15.

A.N., F7, 13574, joint report of Bordeaux, October 9, 1914 and of Paris, October 
6 (1914), M/35.
87 A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, February 4,1915, M/9621.
88 Ibid.
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sions were reorganized and Merrheim chaired the one dealing with wor- 
kers in war Industries, while Jouhaux, who was also a member of the 
Comite, headed the subcommission of working conditions and salaries.**

There is the possibility that for the syndicalists the Comite d’Action 
had another, less public goal, namely to prevent any right wing reaction 
against the C.G.T. Jouhaux on September 3rd warned his Executive 
Committee against the possible arrest of revolutionaries and of a reac­
tion against the left. He advised the C.G.T. to cooperate with the Socia­
list Party to avert this.99 100 Merrheim dismissed this opinion by charging 
that some would use the pretext of a reactionary peril in Order to join 
the government at Bordeaux.101 In this instance Merrheim was scoffing 
at therumor of an anti left reaction in Order to criticise those who would 
leave Paris to join the union sacree. But in fact there was considerable 
fear in C.G.T. ranks of government repression and what better way to 
avoid it than by cooperating with the authorities on trade union matters.

The government knew whom to contact on the Comite d’Action for 
vital Information on the war industries. At the end of September, 1914, 
Renaudel, a socialist working with the authorities, asked Merrheim to sub- 
mit a detailed report for Marcel Sembat, the Minister of Public Works, 
on the factories whidi were capable of producing war materiels.102 * Merr- 
heim’s response was precise and quite useful to the government: two types 
of factories, he wrote, could produce war goods, the arsenals of the war 
and naval ministries and private industrial firms; Merrheim would ask 
other federation secretaries about the former, but he sent Renaudel a 
complete list of private factories capable of assisting in the war effort. 
After some advice on how to organize the latter, he asked for good will 
towards those workers who would furnish tbeir tecbnical capacity and 
their effort.10*

This kind of request from the government was no isolated incident, 
and Merrheim frequently linked it to claims for union labor. Thus, he 
was instrumental in providing the army corps of engineers with 5,000 
workers from the Bourse du Travail in Paris to build the Camp Retran- 
che de Paris. He then made sure that the military governor of Paris knew 
the advantages of hiring union labor: syndicalists did not ask as mudi in 
wages as did other non-union Professionals, and the quality of union la­
bor was generally superior, a fact of great importance for the national

99 A.N., F7,13272, report of April 17,1916.
100 A.N., F7,13574, report of Paris, February 4,1915, M/9621.
101 »A L’Union des M6caniciens de la Seine,« in: L’Union des M£taux, op. cit., p. 14.
102 Ibid.
105 Letter from Alphonse Merrheim to the Comit£ d’Action, dated Paris, 15/9/1914, 
the Merrheim Archives (IMT).
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defense. It was also very important, he concluded, for moral and very 
mud) in the Interests of the public Order as well as for national defense 
that no one under contract to the army gain profits or exploit the tax 
payer. Finally, qualified labor, by whidi he meant Union labor, could ma- 
ke goods quickly and well.104 105 106 In another letter to the military governor, 
Merrheim underscored the point that it was thanks to their (the wor- 
kers) activity and to their Professional know how that the Services of the 
corps of engineers could rapidly put the trench camp into a ready state 
of defense. Having made that point, he then noted that now that the 
camp was finished many workers would be laid off, but that a certain 
number would be needed to run the camp. He asked the governor to 
choose the latter in accord with the interested union organizations and 
from the Bourse du Travail of Paris.w

Merrheim’s assistance paid off for the workers. A Ministry of the In- 
terior report stated that workers in war industries had experienced some 
ameliorations, thanks to the activities of the Comite d’Action. On ano­
ther occasion Millerand, the Minister of War, was conducting a cam- 
paign against slakers in industry and he asked the Federation of Metal 
Workers to let him know who were all the unsound workers who were 
taking the place of the Professional workers. Merrheim and the Federa­
tion of Metal Workers agreed to furnish this documentation .. .loa Pre- 
sumably the government would fire the inefficient non-union labor and 
Merrheim would have scored another point for his people.

Merrheim’s closest and most important contact with the government 
was Albert Thomas, a socialist who from October 29, 1914 was the Un­
der Secretary of State for Artillery and from December 12, 1916 to Sep­
tember 12, 1917 was Minister of Armaments. Shortly before he took up 
his first post, Thomas asked Merrheim to meet with him in the offices 
of the Ministry of Labor. He told Merrheim that the Minister of Labor 
had asked him, Thomas, to assist in accelerating the production of war 
materiels. He asked Merrheim to provide Information concerning salaries 
and working conditions in plants producing war goods; he, in return, 
would be in a position to help workers in this industry. This all implied, 
of course, that Merrheim would be willing to cooperate with Thomas’ 
task. Merrheim agreed to press at least for workers’ claims and his Exe­
cutive Committee concurred that he should meet periodically with Tho­
mas to do this.107
104 Letter from Alphonse Merrheim to the Military Governor of Paris, dated Paris, 
October 23,1914, in the Merrheim Archives (IMT).
105 Letter of Alphonse Merrheim to Monsieur P. Doumer, chef de Cabinet du Gouver­
neur Militaire de la Place de Paris, dated November 12, 1914, in the Merrheim Ardiives 
(IMT).
106 A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, April 6,1915, M/19724.
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Merrheim’s first report to Thomas came in October, 1914 and dealt 
only with trade union matters. In it he reviewed the general state of the 
metallurgical industry, detailing the drop in wages, the increase in hours, 
and the deterioration of conditions. He hoped Thomas could improve 
matters. In the same report, however, Merrheim also pointed out that it 
was the Intervention of the Federation of Metal Workers which had pre- 
vented a metal workers strike in Saint-Nazaire.107 108 Thomas and the go- 
vernment knew their man.

Thomas was the important link between the C.G.T. and the govern- 
ment. When Jouhaux and Merrheim wante.d workshop delegates establi- 
shed and recognized by the employers, they negotiated with Thomas.109 
When a worker wrote to Merrheim complaining of changes in the sche- 
dule of night-time labor resulting in fewer hours of pay, Merrheim wrote 
a long letter to Thomas asking for help.110 In return for his Cooperation 
with Thomas, Merrheim insisted that the latter should provide not only 
favors for workers, but should attempt to grant them fundamental gua- 
rantees. It was especially important that the government take extra care 
in the hiring of non-professionals and of nonunion labor, that the role of 
the Mixed Commissions be defined precisely, and that the workers’ dele­
gates should always be approved by the workers’ organizations.111 It 
was over official guarantees that Merrheim expressed considerable disap- 
pointment with Thomas, however. Merrheim knew full well that Tho­
mas could not provide workers with the security they wanted; that had 
to come from the Minister of War himself.112 Still, he pressured Tho­
mas. And his friendship with Thomas did not stop Merrheim from expres- 
sing great anger at the former when he attempted to make French wor­
kers’ work harder,113 or to berate Thomas for not Consulting enough 
with the workers’ organizations.114 In spite of this tension, a police spy 
could report that the presence of Thomas in the government had been the

107 See »A L’Union des M^caniciens de la Seine,« in: L’Union des Metaux, op. cit-, 
p. 14, and »L’Action F£d£rale,« in: L’Union des Metaux, no. 62, May-December 1915, 
p.3.
108 Letter from Alphonse Merrheim to Albert Thomas, dated Paris, October 29, 1914, 
found in the Guesde Ardiives (no. 45716), the International Institute for Social History, 
Amsterdam.
109 A.N., F7, 13575, report of Paris, February 13,1917.
110 See the letter of Eugens Kernst to (Alphonse) Merrheim, dated Saint Mans, Sep­
tember 14, 1914, in the Merrheim Archives (IMT), and the letter of Alphonse Merr­
heim to Albert Thomas, dated October 27 (1914), in the Merrheim Ardiives (IMT).
111 A.N., F7, 13574, report of Paris, July 3, 1915, M/9865; also see »Action Fed£- 
rale,« in: L’Union des Metaux, op. cit., pp. 4-6.
112 A.P.P., B/A 1535, report of September 14,1915.
118 Ibid-

114 Federation des Metaux, Proces-verbaux, Seance de la Commission Executive du 
Samedi 20 mai 1916.
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best, if not only guarantee syndicalists had had for their personal safe- 
ty iw This estimation is one sided for surely Merrheim’s Cooperation 
with the government helped also.

Merrheim also interceded with the government to perform private fa- 
vors for workers. In December, 1914, officials arrested and put into a 
concentration camp a member of the Federation of Teachers, Julie Ber- 
trand, for her antimilitarist activities. Union officials wrote to Merr­
heim asking for assistance and the latter began to work steadly for Ber- 
trand’s release, mostly by petitioning Marcel Sembat, the Socialist Mini­
ster.11* On another occasion a man wrote to Merrheim complaining of 
snags in his application for French citizenship. Would Merrheim, he as- 
ked, speak to Jouhaux who might speak to Sembat.115 116 117 It is impossible 
to teil what effect Merrheim had on these cases, but it is significant that 
syndicalists who needed assistance from the government knew that Merr­
heim was the man to see.

Contact with Thomas also pcrsonally benefitted Merrheim. On several 
notable occasions Thomas warned Merrheim about the dangers of the 
latter’s pacifist campaign.118 Thomas advised Merrheim that while 
France was being attacked, pacifism was ill-advised. He warned Merr­
heim to be prudent: d’ont ruin yourself, he said. Thomas also told Merr­
heim that the government was watching his correspondance, something 
Merrheim already knew, and that certain unnamed ministers had it out 
for him. Merrheim would not cease his pacifist campaign, but was un- 
doubtedly grateful that Thomas was looking out for him.

Because of Merrheim’s political moderation and his behind-the-sccnes 
Cooperation, his value to the government was great. No wonder then that 
when Clemenceau became premier he contacted Merrheim. Actually, 
Merrheim’s first reaction to Clemenceau’s assumption of the premiership 
was fear that the government would now arrest him for his pacifist ac­
tivities.119 A police spy wrote that all the directors of the C.G.T. beca­
me reserved when Clemenceau came to power, but that Merrheim was 
especially cautious and that the pacifist Propaganda is going through a 
period of inaction.120 Merrheim need not have worried, however, be­
cause early in December, 1917, Clemenceau »quickly established rela-

115 A.P.P., B/A 1558, report of January 5,1917.
116 See the many letters in the Merrheim Archives, IMT, from December, 1914 to 
February, 1915, which deal with this case.
117 Letter from Franco Caiti to Alphonse Merrheim, dated Romilly, November 23, 
1914, in the Merrheim Archives (IMT).
118 See Federation des M6taux, Proc£s-vcrbaux, Seance de la Commission Execu­
tive du 5 juin (1915), and Seance de la Commission Executive du 19 juin 1915.
119 Kriegel, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 228.
120 A.N., F7, 13575, report of November 26, 1917, P/11838.
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tions-discretly and perseveringly- with Merrheim, the pacifist leader.«111 
In a private interview with Merrheim, Clemenceau, seeking to win over 
the syndicalist, affirmed to bim bis sympatbies for the working class.m 
Later the premier proposed that Merrheim undertake a mis- 
sion to Russia, presumably to intercede with Lenin and Trotsky for 
the continuation of the war. Merrheim replied that It is already too 
late.iS8 On another occasion, Clemenceau, through an intermediary, 
suggested that Merrheim join the cabinet to serve as a liaison between the 
government and organized labor. Merrheim rejected the offer and poin- 
ted out how little political leaders knew about the mentality of revolu- 
tionary syndicalists.121 122 123 124 125 * 127 128 Actually, the government had a better idea 
about the mentality of some revolutionary syndicalists than Merrheim 
could have imagined. The latter could not accept a post with the govern­
ment - that would be too conscious a break with revolutionary syndi- 
calism - but it is significant that Clemenceau seriously thought Merr­
heim was right for the job.

Not all syndicalists approved of Merrheim’s double role of govern­
ment critic and government collaborator. At one meeting of the C.G.T.’s 
Executive Committee, Guinchard of the Transport Workers Union at- 
tacked Merrheim’s attitude: But you (Merrheim), he shouted, belong to 
a federation which makes the engines of death; if you want peace, call 
for a general strike of the Metal WorkersMerrheim answered lamely 
that I estimate that even if one stops the fabrication of munitions and 
Canons, one would not stop the war because the killing would continue 
by other means. Besides, most of the canons come from America.1*9 At 
a meeting of the Comite pour la reprise des relations internationales 
Merrheim heard himself denounced for working with the Comite d'Ac­
tion and for cooperating with Jouhaux and Renaudel.1*7 Jouhaux also 
criticised Merrheim’s double role but from a different perspective. The 
former decried Merrheim’s private Cooperation with Thomas while re- 
fusing to admit he did so publically.1'8 The public antagonism between

121 Henry Maumoury, Police de Guerre, 1914-1919, Paris 1937, p. 99.
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the two men, however, did not prevent them from working together fre- 
quently to press for workers claims.128 And the latter was the reason 
that Merrheim cooperated with the government, but privately so he 
could think he was not violating an important principle of revolutionary 
syndicalism, namely its Opposition to the middle dass state and politics. 
Merrheim held his revolutionary syndicalist beliefs sincerely, but his love 
for and commitment to the workers was also deep and in this crises Situa­
tion Merrheim could do no better than place himself in a contradictory 
Situation.

Merrheim’s career during the war reveals a part of his political charac- 
ter and activity hitherto unknown and also indicates the need for histo- 
rians to reformulate their traditional view of him and his relationship to 
revolutionary syndicalism. Merrheim had come to revolutionary syndi­
calism early, when only 20, and remained one of its most dedicated and 
dedicated activists. He faithfully subscribed to all the ideals of the mo- 
vement-antistatism, antimilitarism, direct economic action by workers, 
an apolitical working dass movement, and the notion that material ame- 
liorations and Organization coupled with a revolutionary education 
would prepare the workers to one day overthrow the capitalist state in a 
general strike. Before the war, however, Merrheim prepared so tho- 
roughly for revolution, that he came to emphasize the preparations for 
the revolution rather than the revolution itself. Throughout the prewar 
years he never believed that the syndicalist movement was sufficiently 
developed or ready to match the power and organizational efficiency of 
the employers and the state. Yet to him this kind of power was an abso- 
lutely necessary precondition for the revolutionary general strike. Quite 
unknown to himself he had lost faith in the real possibility of revolution 
while he continued preparing and organizing for revolution and subscri- 
bing to it as a goal. He, therefore, never considered that the war might 
offer an opportunity for revolutionary agitation among the masses; he 
viewed it only as an unfortunate, tragic interuption of the progress in the 
syndicalist movement, something to be ended immediately so that syn- 
dicalists could return to planning and organizing for the social revolution. 
Central also to Merrheim’s considerations was his genuine love for his 
rank-and-file as well as his concern for the trade union Organization. The­
se considerations largely explain why he certainly violated the spirit of 
his own beliefs. He also tended to be a timid and fearful person and this 
too operated in his decision making process. *
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Even more significant than his Cooperation with the government or his 
relatively moderate pacifist program was that Merrheim’s diaracter and 
political considerations caused him to frustrate and discourage some sig­
nificant political and economic demands made by his own metal wor- 
kers. From 1917 onwards, metal workers began to strike with increasing 
frequency. Their strikes began as economic drives, protests against the 
higher cost of living, but by 1919 a great many of the strikers were ma- 
king serious political demands. At the end of June, 1919, over 300 000 me­
tal workers had gone out on wildcat strikes in the Loire and Seine Val­
leys.130 Although these strikes had begun as demands for a shorter work 
week their central claim sone became Support for the Russian Revolution 
and a revolutionary action against their own government. What ist re- 
markable about Merrheim’s role in these strikes was its almost comple- 
tely negative diaracter. Merrheim refused to press for any bit the mildest 
economic gains and generally wanted the strikes over and industrial pea- 
ce restored. He refused to consider expanding the movement to the politi­
cal arena. Even the most notable gain he obtained for his Federation un- 
dercut the position of the strikers. In 1919, Merrheim and the leaders of 
the Federation of Metal Workers signed an agreement with the emplo- 
yers in their industry granting the workers the 48-hour week. But the 
strikers were demanding the 44-hour week. Because Merrheim refused to 
lead the strikers for anything more radical than a shorter work week, 
and because he generally withheld Federation and C.G.T. support, the 
strikes failed. Those who had looked to Merrheim for assistance were 
shocked that he had abandoned all but the mildest goals of his own wor­
kers. Had they been less ignorant of Merrheim’s political character, how- 
ever, they might not have been so surprised.

130 For a study of the important strike movement of 1919 see, Nicholas Papayanis, 
Masses revolutionnaires et directions reformistes: Les tensions au cours des graves des 
metallurgistes fran9ais en 1919, in: Le Mouvement Social, octobre-d^cembre 1975, 
pp. 51-73.


